101734-1

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/21/2023 4:47 PM

# A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Tamara and Jay Fleischer ("Fleischer") ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

# I. INTRODUCTION

The facts behind the issues of this petition, whether or not the amount of the Fleischers' homestead is of constitutional magnitude, are outlined with the following table:

SHERIFF'S SALE ON WRIT OF EXECUTION THAT AL- LOWED HOMESTEAD OF \$125,000 (CP114) FOR HOME THAT APPRAISED AT \$448,000 (CP119-121)	April 2, 2021 (CP 25-32)
EFFECTIVE DATE OF AMEND- MENT TO RCW 6.13.030 THAT INCREASED THE FLEISCHERS HOMESTEAD AMOUNT FROM \$125,000 TO \$545,575 (CP69-72, 81-95)	May 12, 2021 (CP 68)
ORDER CONFIRMING CERTIFI- CATE OF SHERIFF'S SALE EN-	May 24, 2021 (CP 67-68)

TERED	
MOTION TO VACATE ORDER CONFIRMING SHERIFF'S SALE FILED	November 22, 2021 (CP 4-5)
ORDER DENYING MOTION TO VACATE ORDER CON- FIRMING SHERIFF'S SALE	December 3, 2021 (CP 30-31)

The Fleischers were unaware of the increase in the homestead and did not object to the entry of the Order Confirming Certificate of Sheriff's Sale ("Order"). They also did not learn of the increase until the 30 day appeal period had expired. Instead they attacked the Order collaterally for violating Wash. Const. XIX, § 1.

The issue succinctly is the impact of the increase in the Fleischers' homestead amount between the date of the sheriff's sale on April 2, 2021 (CP 25-32) and the Order Confirming the Certificate of Sheriff's Sale on May 24, 2023 (CP 67-68).

The court of appeals in its opinion (A 2-9) ignored the issues Fleischers' raised in their brief. Citing neither case nor statute on point, it ruled for the first time in Washington State

that the amount of the Fleischers' homestead was not a fundamental constitutional right. The Fleischers thus could not attack it collaterally under CR 60(b) as void for violating the Fleischers' constitutional homestead rights. It ruled that the trial court had only made a mistake of law. Thus the Fleischers' only relief was through appeal. Whether or not the amount of the homestead is an issue of constitutional magnitude is the heart of this case. All other issues revolve around it.

B. Court of Appeals Decision of November 14, 2022.

A. Without citing a case or statute, it ruled that the amount of the Fleischers homestead amount was not a fundamental constitutional right (App 5) and thus the Fleischers could not mount a collateral attack on the order confirming sheriff's sale. Their only recourse was an appeal for a mistake of law from the original order.

B. It denied the Fleischers' use of the \$125,000 homestead allowed, again without citing a case or statute or giving any factual analysis, defeating the purpose of the homestead

statute (App 9).

II.

The December 19, 2023 order denying publication of the order, (A 16), even though the decision of first impression, in ruling that the amount of the homestead was not of constitutional magnitude, should be published

III.

The January 20, 2023 order denying the motion to reconsider decision which order wrote the word "automatic" out of RCW 6. 13.040.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I.

Is the amount of the Fleischers homestead part of the Wash. Const. XIX, § 1 guarantee to them of a homestead? If the amount is part of the homestead, should the order confirming sheriff's sale in violation of the Fleischers' constitutional right be vacated as void.

II.

When RCW 6.13.040 states that the Fleischers' vested homestead is automatic, does this automatic increase apply after a sheriff's sale and before an order confirming the sheriff's sale can be entered.

III.

Should the Fleischers receive immedately the \$125,000 homestead, the substitute for their home, which presently sits in the bank account of the Clerk of Snohomish County?

IV.

Should be court of appeals opinion be published because it holds for the first time in Washington State that the amount of the homestead is not an of constitutional magnitude under

D.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The home appraised for \$448,000 (CP 119-121) The sheriff's sale occurred on April 2, 2021 (CP 025-032). The

winning bid by Carter was \$500,000. (CP 102). The writ of execution allowed a homestead of \$125,000. (CP 114). Unbeknownst to the Fleischers, the court, and apparently Carter, the state legislature increased the Fleischers automatic vested constitutional homestead amount, from \$125,000 to \$545,575, by amending RCW § 6.13.030 on May 12, 2021 (CP 69-72, 81-95). This increase occurred automatically on that date under RCW § 6.13.040.

The Fleischers, unaware of the change in their constitutional rights, did not object to the order by the trial court confirming Certificate of Sale on May 24, 2021.

After the trial court entered the Order Confirming Sheriff's Sale, Fleischers learned of their homestead increase, more than thirty days after May 24, 2021. Also, in spite of Carter's promise that Fleischers would receive the \$125,00 in cash at the time of the sale (CP 116) and as required by the Homestead Statute, they did not received it at the time of the sale and have yet to receive it

On November 22, 2022, Fleischers filed a motion to vacate the Sheriff's Order Confirming Sheriff's Sale and asserted their constitutional claim to the \$545,575 homestead. (CP 004-005). The impact of this increase voided the Certificate of Sale. RCW §§ 6.13.110 &.160 only allowed a Certificate of Sale to be confirmed when the appraisal of the homestead exceeds the constitutional homestead with liens and encumbrances. They also asked the court to receive their allowed minimal constitutional homestead of \$125,000.

Carter opposed both motions. On the request for release of the \$125,000 and contrary to their prior position (CP 116), Carter now reasoned that the purpose of the Homestead Statute, was not to supply shelter for the Fleischers, but to protect the purchaser at the sheriff's sale. (CP 41-45). As to the homestead increase, they ignored the constitutional argument, and contended that the date of the sheriff's sale, April 2, 2021 fossilized Carter's interest in the home and created a vested constitutional interest for her, that was immune from legislative

change. (CP 51-56). The trial court without explanation interpreted the homestead statute narrowly against the Fleischer and denied both motions on December 3, 2021. (CP 30-31).

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### I. Constitutional Issue.

The court of appeals ignored the issues that the Fleischers' raised in their brief. It brushed off the contention that the amount of the homestead was constitutionally protected. Its opinion (App 6) states that the homestead is not a fundamental constitutional right citing. *In re Marriage of Maxfield*, 47 Wn.App. 699, 703. 737 P.2d 671 (1987 (citing State v. Santos, 104 Wn.2d 142, 702 P.2d 1179 (1985) which are not homestead cases. This court should grant this petition to answer this question: "When the citizens of Washington State drafted the Washington State constitution did they intend that the homestead and the amount of the homestead to be a "fundamental constitutional right?" Wash. Const. XIX, § 1. The court of appeals in its decision without discussion or citing case or

statute severed the amount of the homestead from Wash. Const. XIX, § 1 by ruling that the amount was not a fundamental constitutional right. Applying the increase as required by RCW §§ 6.13.110 & 160, which require that as a sine qua non of an order confirming a sheriff's sale, thet homestead minimally had to appraise at more than the homestead. Until the order confirming the sheriff's sale had been entered, cited in their brief, the Fleishers held the vested constitutional right in their home until the order confirming the sheriff's sale was entered. The change in the amount of the homestead from a set amount to a flexible amount based upon sales (RCW 6.13.030(b)) was to protect homeowners from what happened in this case. This is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington RAP 13.4(b)(3) and is worth of this Court's consideration.

A liberal interpretation of the homestead statute makes the Fleischers homestead increase a fundamental constitutional right and allowed Fleischers to collaterally attack the order confirming the sheriff's sale collaterally. "[T]he homesteader has a vested right in the homestead exemption." *Robin L. Miller Constr. Co., Inc. v. Coltran,* 110 Wn. App. 883, 891, 43 P.3d 67 (2002). *Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank v. O/S Sablefish,* 111 Wn.2d 219, 228, 758 P.2d 494 (1988) "The right to a protected homestead is derived from a mandate of the Constitution of the State of Washington... The Fleischer's constitutionally vested right on May 24, 2021, the date the Order was entered, was \$545,350, The Order did not allow the Fleischers their constitutional vested right and is void.

Again, *Arbogast v. Linz*, 180 Wash. 315, 318 39 P.2d 615, 616 (1935) stated that "Statutes exempting real property from sale on execution have received a liberal construction by nearly all courts of this country (Citations omitted). " It further states that "(A)t the common law real property was not subject to sale on execution and was only made subject to such sale by statutory provision."

Young v. Davis, 50 Wash. 504, 97 P. 506, 507 (1908)

held that only the judicial confirmation of a foreclosure sale vests in the purchasers the full equitable title to the mortgaged premises.

In re Spokane Sav. Bank, 198 Wash. 665, 672, 89 P.2d 802 (1939) held that a sheriff's sale is not final until an order confirming the sale is entered. "In re Spokane, at 672 stated:

"The rule relative to the rights of parties before and after the confirmation of a judicial sale is well stated in Morrison v. Burnette, 154 Fed. 617, as follows: "There is a marked and radical distinction between the situations, the rights of the parties, and the established practice before and after the confirmation of the sale. The purchaser bids with full notice that the sale to him is subject to confirmation by the court and that there is a power granted and a duty imposed upon the judicial tribunal when it comes to decide whether or not the sale shall be confirmed to so exercise its judicial power as to secure for the owners of the property the largest practicable returns. He is aware that his rights as a purchaser are subject to the rational exercise of this discretion. But after the sale is confirmed that discretion has been exercised. The power to sell and the power to determine the price at which the sale shall be made has been exhausted. From thenceforth the court and the successful bidder occupy the relation of vendor and purchaser in an executed sale, and nothing is sufficient to avoid it which would not set aside a sale of like character between private parties. Hence the rule is settled, and it seems to be universally

approved, that after confirmation of a judicial sale neither inadequacy of price, nor offers of better prices, nor anything but fraud, accident, mistake, or some other cause for which equity would avoid a like sale between private parties, will warrant a court in avoiding the confirmation of the sale or in opening the latter and receiving subsequent bids. [Citing cases.]"This rule is so firmly established that it is no longer debatable..."

In *Bonded Adj. Co. v. Helgerson*, 188 Wash. 176, 178, 61 P.2d 1267 (1936) "a certificate of sale executed by a sheriff does not vest title, being at most but evidence of an inchoate estate that may or may not ripen into an absolute title." *Johnston v. Beneficial Management Corp. of Am.*, 85 Wn.2d 637, 641, 538 P.2d 510 (1975): "a right cannot be considered a vested right, unless it is something more than such a mere expectation as may be based upon an anticipated continuance of the present general laws: it must have become a title, legal or equitable, to the present or future enjoyment of property..."

Plaintiff initiated the sheriff's sale with the expectation that the "anticipated continuance of the present general laws."

Its expectation was disappointed. The "present general laws"

changed. Its sale is void, as is the Order.

This Court should determine whether the amount of the homestead is a fundamental constitutional right of the Fleischers

If it is, it is void. An order which violates a person's constitutional rights is void. See Weyerhaeuser Co. v. King County, 91 Wn.2d 721, 723,592 P.2d 1108 (1979)

"Having carefully considered all arguments presented by the parties in their briefs and in oral argument, we conclude the 1975 amendment in question violated the constitutional requirements for amending an existing statute, and is void. We therefore reverse the order....

State v. Ponce, 93 Wn.2d 533, 540, 611 P.2d 407 (1980) (a constitutional defect in a traffic conviction rendered the conviction void). Kahler v. Squire, 49 Wn.2d 911, 299 P.2d 570 (1956) (criminal conviction under unconstitutional law was void.) State ex rel. Superior Court v. Sperry, 79 Wn.2d 69, 483 P.2d 608 (1971) (an order of contempt was void because it violated the constitution.) The trial court should have granted the

November 22, 2021 motion to vacate the void May 24, 2021, order

### II. RAP 13.4(a)(1)

The decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 177, 178 493 P.3d 94 (2021 when it wrote the word "automatic" out of RCW 6.13.040

The petition meets the criteria of RAP 13.4(a)(1) "If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." It conflicts with *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 177, 178 493 P.3d 94 (2021 R; *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 177, 178 493 P.3d 94 (2021) (Gonzalez, C.J. concurring) stated that the homestead is automatic and requires no human intervention:

I particularly agree that Steven Long's truck automatically qualified as his homestead because he obviously lived in it. In my view, though, the homestead act, ch. 6.13 RCW, also protected Long's home both from being towed and from being subject to forced sale, regardless of whether the sale was ultimately avoided.

The homestead act protects "a home where [the] family may be sheltered and live beyond the reach of financial misfortune," and the act is construed "liberally so it may achieve its purpose of protecting family homes." *In re Dependency of Schermer*, 161 Wn.2d 927, 953, 169 P.3d 452 (2007)"

Blacks Law Dictionary 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. Defines AUTOMATIC: "Having inherent power of action or motion; self-acting or self regulating, mechanical." *Am. Roll Gold Leaf Co. v. W. H. Coe Mfg. Co.*, 212 F. 720 (1st Cir. 1914).

In Yardley & Co. v. United States, 41 C.C.P.A. 85 (U.S. C.C.P.A. 1953), the amount of duty on an import turned on the definition of "automatic.' At 89 it stated;

"It is a well settled rule of law that Congress generally intends that the usual and ordinary meaning shall attach to the language used in the statutes.

That definition (Automatic) is consistent with those we have found in other recognized references and court decisions. For example, in Corpus Juris Secundum, Vol. 7, p. 1296, is found the following:

"AUTOMATIC. Self-acting, or the elimination of human agency or volition, which results in the saving of labor and increases certainty and uniformity of operation; having an inherent power of action or motion, self-acting or self-regulating, not voluntary, not depending on the will, mechanical.

"AUTOMATICALLY. Acting without the continued application of human agency or volition, that is, as opposed to acting rationally or volitionally; of its own accord; self-acting."

According to this case and its cited authorities, automatic meant that the Fleischers required no application of human agency or violation and did not have to assert their homestead claim in court opn May 24, 2021.

United States v. Staples, 971 F.2d 608, 616 (10th Cir. 1992) (reversed on other grounds Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 114 S. Ct. 1793, 128 L. Ed. 2d 608, 1994 U.S. LEXIS 3773, 62 U.S.L.W. 4379, 8 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S 115, 94 Cal. Daily Op. Service 3659, 94 D.A.R. 6853) defined automatic:

"By automatic is meant self-acting, or the elimination of human agency or volition which results in the saving of labor and increased certainty and uniformity of operation. Citing *Tripp Giant Leveler Co. v. Rogers*, 61 F. 289, 290-91 (D. Mass. 1894)."

Automatic means "the elimination of human agency or volition," As applied to the Fleischers, while it would have been better if the Fleischers had objected at the May 24, 2021,

but their appearance and asserting was not a *sine qua non* of their receiving their increased homestead.

In KeyBank Nat'l Ass'n v. McDole (In re McDole), No. C08-0098RSL, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 80531 (W.D. Wash. Sep. 18, 2008), the debtors attempted to avoid a judgment lien under 11 U.S.C. § 522(f), because it impaired their homestead exemption.

#### **CHRONOLOGY**

JUDGMENT RECORDED	07/10/2007
HOMESTEAD INCREASE FROM	07/22/2007
\$40,000 TO \$125,000	
BANKRUPTCY FILED	10/05/2007

This is the same issue, in the bankruptcy lien stripping context, as our state supreme court reached in *Macumber v*. *Shafer*, 96 Wn.2d 568, 637 P.2d 645 (1981).

Key Bank argued that for purposes of 11 U.S.C. § 522 (f), that the \$40,000 homestead at the time of recording the judgment should apply and not the increased \$125,000. Judge Lasnik \*7,8 stated:

"Also, the parties agree that the amendment is remedial. Although a "remedial statute cannot be retroactively applied if it affects a vested right," In re F.D. Processing, *Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 452, 463, 832 P.2d 1303 (1992), no court has held that a judgment lien is a vested right against a homestead. Nor have any Washington courts held that an increase to the homestead exemption cannot be applied retroactively. In contrast, the Washington Supreme Court has held that an increase to the homestead exemption was retroactive: "In order to further the purpose of the homestead legislation in general, and to give effect to the amendment increasing the dollar amount of the exemption in particular, the amendment must be applied retroactively." Macumber, 96 Wn.2d at 570 The *Macumber* decision also explained that an increase in the exemption "does not impair the contractual obligation. It merely modifies the remedy."Id. at p. 572." It admits that the trial court made a mistake of law allows interest o 12% per annum. It is good for ten years. RCW 4.64 allows the renewal of the judgment for another 10 ynears. The homestead amount was set at \$125,000 during 2007. In the meantime inflation has driving up the pile of money a person can receive for the home, although the usefulness of the kitchen sink remains the same. A person looks for the difference between the value of the house and the judgment and as in this case seeks to liquidate the difference.

The increase from \$125,000 to \$545,575 was automatic. Under RCW §§ 6.13.110 &.160 the proposed sale should have ended on May 24, 2023. Since the increase was automatic, Fleischers did not have to object.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) applies. Shelter is critical for many people and is a matter of compelling public interest. In the instant case, even though the Fleischers no longer reside at their house, they are denied the use of the \$125,000 to find other shelter. The state legislature passed eviction controls (RCW § 59.18.057) this last year. Up here in Bellingham, WA since last year, we have rent controls. (I oppose both, not because I do not believe that housing is a pressing and compelling concern,. It is. but because I do not believe that in the long run or even the short run they work). But to deprive the Fleischers of their house and deprive what is supposed to be the substitute for their house, the \$125,000, is heartless. When the trial court and the court of appeals without citing a case, or statute or undertaking any analysis foster homelessness, something is truly rotten in the state of Denmark.

#### **CONCLUSIONS**

The Fleischers petition this Court to review the following three issues:

A. That it determine whether the amount of the homestead is a fundamental constitutional part of Wash. Const. XIX, § 1. If it is a fundamental constitutional part of Wash. Const. XIX § 1, then this Court should vacate the order confirming the sheriff's sale.

B. This court give the word "automatic: in RCW 6.13.040 its plain meaning and rule that the amount of the Fleischers' homestead increase from \$125,000 to \$545.575 on May 12, 2021, applied automatically to the hearing on the Order confirming sheriff's sale on May 24, 2023, and that under RCW §§ 6.13.110 &.160 the order was void and should be vacated and rule in conformity with *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 146.147 493 P.3d 94 (2021)

- C. That the Fleischer without further ado and regardless of the decision of this court, receive the \$125,000 immediately.
  - D. Publish the ground-breaking court of appeals deci-

sion.