FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/6/2023 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1017341 COA No. 83512-2-I

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Tamara L. Fleischer and Jay P. Fleischer,

Defendants/Appellants,

v.

Lisa S. Carter (Assignee: Margaret L. Curtis),

Plaintiff/Respondent.

Answer to Petition for Review

Rodney T. Harmon P.O. Box 1066 Bothell, WA 98041 (425) 402-7800 rodharmon@msn.com

Attorney for Margaret L. Curtis, Assignee of Lisa S. Carter

Contents

I. Identity of Respondent.	1
II. Relevant Facts	. 1
III. Reasons for Denying Review	. 3
VI. Conclusion	. 7

Appendix

I. Identity of Respondent.

Margaret L. Curtis is the assignee of the judgment creditor, the purchaser at the sheriff's sale, and the respondent in this case. She obtained the order confirming the sheriff's sale, which the judgment debtors, Tamara and Jay Fleischer, seek to vacate via CR 60(b).

II. Relevant Facts.

The Fleischers' home was sold to Margaret Curtis in a sheriff's sale. CP 105-08.¹ When the Fleischers did not object to the sale during the 20-day statutory objection period, the judgment creditor became entitled to an order confirming the sale. CP 105; RCW 6.13.160. Thereafter the legislature increased the exemption amount.² Then Mrs. Curtis moved for, and the superior court entered, an order confirming the sale. CP

¹ The sale complied with the statutory procedures governing the sale of a homestead then in effect. RCW 6.13.100-.160; CP 121, 125, 176-180. The Fleischers do not contend otherwise.

² ENGROSSED SUBSTITUTE S.B. 5408, at 2, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2021).

96. The Fleischers did not appeal the order.

Nearly six months later, the Fleischers filed a CR 60(b) motion seeking to vacate the order. CP 83. The Fleischers justified their use of CR 60(b) by contending that they had been denied a fundamental constitutional right.³

The trial court denied the motion. CP 83. The Fleischers appealed. They asked the Court of Appeals to decide whether the amount of the latest homestead exemption increase applied to the sheriff's sale of their home. RCW 6.13.030. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court in an unpublished decision.

The Court of Appeals rejected the Fleischers' claim to a *constitutional* right to a *specific* homestead exemption amount, deeming their right to be statutory, not constitutional. Slip op. at

³ In re Marriage of Maxfield, 47 Wash. App. 699, 702 (1987) (inadequate notice and opportunity to be heard); *State v. Santos*, 104 Wn. 2d 142, 145–46 (1985) (right to confront accuser); *State v. Dictado*, 102 Wn. 2d 277, 286–87 (1984) (right not to be bound by a judicial proceeding to which one was not a party); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

6. As such, the Fleischers' alleged error of law could only be raised by appealing from the order of confirmation within 30 days after its entry, not by collaterally attacking it under CR 60(b) six months later. *In re Marriage of Maxfield*, 47 Wn. App. 699, 702 (1987) ("If notice of appeal is not filed within 30 days from entry of an appealable order, the Court of Appeals is without jurisdiction to consider that order.")

III. Reasons for Denying Review.

The Fleischers ask this court to decide whether the most recent amendment to RCW 6.13.030, which increased the homestead exemption amount, applied to a sheriff sale that occurred before the amendment's effective date. More specifically, they ask whether Article XIX of the state constitution mandated this application. Pet. Rev. at 4.

The Washington State constitution imposes a mandate on the legislature, namely, to protect a portion of the homestead:

The legislature shall protect by law from forced sale a certain portion of the homestead"

Wash. Const. Art. XIX. But the constitution leaves it up to the

legislature to decide by statute:

- what portion of the homestead to protect,
- whether to change the amount of protection from time to time, and
- by what mechanism the right to the homestead exemption attaches.

The Fleischers do not contend that the legislature has failed to fulfill this constitutional duty. The legislature has fulfilled it by enacting the homestead act, Chapter 6.13, RCW. The legislature has created a statutory right protecting a portion of the homestead.

When the constitution imposes a duty on the legislature, it must act. *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn. 2d 477, ¶¶ 95-97 (2012). But the constitution also imposes a division of responsibilities between the judiciary and the legislature. *Id.* So, the specific details of the legislature's act are left to its discretion. *Id.* And the legislature acts by enacting a statute, in this case creating a statutory right.

It is the statute, not the constitution, which specifies what

portion of the homestead is protected. The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that the Fleischers present an issue of statutory, rather than constitutional, right.

The Fleischers greatly rely upon the term "automatic" in RCW 6.13.040, where the property protected by the homestead exemption is described, and apply it to RCW 6.13.030, where the homestead exemption amount is specified. Pet. Rev. at 14-22. RCW 6.13.040 (1) provides:

Property described in RCW 6.13.010⁴ constitutes a homestead and is *automatically protected* by the exemption described in RCW 6.13.070⁵ from and after the time the real or personal property is occupied as a principal residence by the owner

RCW 6.13.040 (1) (emphasis added). And yet, nowhere does the legislature apply the term "automatic" to the amount of the exemption specified in RCW 6.13.030. More importantly, the

⁴ "The homestead consists of real or personal property that the owner or a dependent of the owner uses as a residence." RCW 6.13.010 (1).

⁵ "[T]he homestead is exempt from attachment and from execution or forced sale for the debts of the owner up to the amount specified in RCW 6.13.030." RCW 6.13.070 (1).

term "automatic" does not appear in Article XIX of the state constitution: "The legislature shall protect by law from forced sale a certain portion of the homestead" "The Fleischers have no *constitutional* right to receive any specific homestead exemption amount." Slip op. at 2 (emphasis added).

The Fleischers' own argument reveals that their case concerns a statutory, not a constitutional, right. They assert:

The decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 177, 178 493 P.3d 94 (2021) when it wrote the word "automatic" out of RCW 6.13.040.

Pet. Rev. at 14. This is an argument that the lower court's error was in its interpretation and application of a statute (RCW 6.13.040), not of a constitutional provision. Article XIX. RAP 13.4(b).

The Fleischers point to no decision by this court that the right to a specific homestead exemption amount is written into the constitution. The words of Article XIX do not support such an interpretation.

The Fleischers also ask that the \$125,000 now held in the

superior court registry be disbursed to them. That money should not be disbursed until the Fleischers' challenges to the sheriff sale are finally resolved. If those challenges are resolved against the Fleischers, they are entitled to the money and not the house. If they prevail, they are entitled to the house and not the money. The Court of Appeals has appropriately remanded this issue to the superior court. The remand will take effect when the mandate is issue. Until then, the \$125,000 should remain in the court registry.

VI. Conclusion.

The Fleischers ask this court to interpret a statutory right, not a constitutional one. The constitution mandates that the legislature protect a portion of the homestead. Wash. Const. Art. XIX. It does not specify the method of protection. The method of protection chosen by the legislature is the creation of a statutory homestead exemption. RCW 6.13. This is a statutory right created by the legislature in compliance with the constitutional mandate. The statute defines the portion of the

homestead that is protected.

The Fleischers failed to raise their issue of statutory law by a timely-filed appeal from the order confirming the sheriff sale. Consequently, the Court of Appeals had no jurisdiction over their appeal and correctly affirmed the superior court.

There is no issue within RAP 13.4(b) for this court to review.

The court is requested to deny the petition.